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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
☒ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2015
OR
☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
Commission File Number 1-9145

ROYAL HAWAIIAN ORCHARDS, L.P.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
DELAWARE
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

99-0248088
(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

688 Kinoole Street, Suite 121, Hilo, Hawaii
(Address of principal executive offices)

96720
(Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (808) 747-8471
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the
past 90 days. Yes ☒ No ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes ☒ No ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the
definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated filer ☐

Accelerated filer ☐

Non-accelerated filer ☐

Smaller reporting company ☒

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ☐ No ☒
As of November 13, 2015, the registrant had 11,100,000 Class A Units issued and outstanding.
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Part I – Financial Information
Item 1.

Financial Statements
Royal Hawaiian Orchards, L.P.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands)
September 30,
2015
(unaudited)

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Deferred farming costs
Other current assets
Total current assets
Land, orchards and equipment, net
Other non-current assets
Total assets

$

$

Liabilities and partners’ capital
Current liabilities
Bridge loan
Current portion of long-term debt
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll and benefits
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Non-current pension benefits
Long-term debt
Deferred income tax liability
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Partners’ capital
Class A limited partners, no par or assigned value, 11,100 units authorized, issued and outstanding
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total partners’ capital
Total liabilities and partners’ capital
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

1

$

$

December 31,
2014

1,070
1,682
6,290
2,239
383
11,664
51,385
709
63,758

$

2,835
2,202
1,354
919
567
7,877
580
14,047
1,004
23,508

$

$

40,431
(181)
40,250
63,758 $

786
1,821
4,713
537
7,857
42,318
412
50,587

1,050
1,015
1,001
164
3,230
580
4,725
1,004
9,539

41,234
(186)
41,048
50,587
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Royal Hawaiian Orchards, L. P.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss (unaudited)
(in thousands, except per unit data)
Three Months
Ended September 30 ,
201 5
201 4
Revenues
Orchards revenue
Branded product sales, net
Total revenues
Cost of revenues
Cost of orchards revenue
Cost of branded product sales
Total cost of revenues
Gross profit (loss)
General and administrative expenses
Selling expenses
Operating income (loss)
Net loss on sale of property
Net interest expense
Other income (expense)
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax (benefit) expense
Net (loss)

$

1,129
3,557
4,686

4,077
1,114
5,191
(279)
691
247
(1,217)
(108)
(107)
(1,432)
(11)
(1,421)

$

2
2
2
(1,419)

$

(0.13)

$

2
2
2
(214)

Net (loss) per Class A Unit

$

(0.02)

Cash distributions per Class A Unit

$

11,100

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

2

3,918
994
4,912

955
2,330
3,285
1,401
926
515
(40)
(245)
92
(193)
23
(216)

Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Amortization of prior service cost
Amortization of actuarial loss
Subtotal defined benefit pension plan
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Comprehensive (loss)

Weighted average Class A Units outstanding

$

Nine Months
Ended September 30,
201 5
201 4

$

11,100

$

4,829
8,419
13,248

$

3,484
5,983
9,467
3,781
2,271
1,487
23
(1)
(529)
(188)
(695)
108
(803)

6,173
4,616
10,789
6,144
4,198
10,342
447
2,015
796
(2,364)
(1,870)
(387)
(27)
(4,648)
5
(4,653)

$

5
5
5
(798) $

5
5
5
(4,648)

$

(0.07) $

(0.44)

$

11,100

$

10,625
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Royal Hawaiian Orchards, L.P.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Partners’ Capital (unaudited)
(in thousands)
Three Months
Ended September 30,
201 5
201 4
Partners’ capital at beginning of period:
Class A limited partners
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income
Pension and severance obligations

$

40,647

$

(183)
40,464

Allocation of net (loss):
Class A limited partners

Accumulated other comprehensive income:
Change in pension and severance obligations

Partners’ capital at end of period:
Class A limited partners
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Total partners’ capital

$

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

3

44,195

$

40
44,235

(216)
(216)

Units issued for cash:
Class A limited partner units (3,600 units), net of fees of $300

Nine Months
Ended September 30,
201 5
201 4

41,234

$

(186)
41,048

(1,421)
(1,421)

(803)
(803)

38,547
37
38,584

(4,653)
(4,653)

-

-

-

8,880
8,880

2
2

2
2

5
5

5
5

40,431
(181)
40,250

$

42,774
42
42,816

$

40,431
(181)
40,250 $

42,774
42
42,816
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Royal Hawaiian Orchards, L.P.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (unaudited)
(in thousands)
Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2015
2014
Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from goods and services
Cash paid to suppliers and employees
Interest paid
Taxes paid
Net cash used in operating activities

$

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Purchase of property and equipment
Net cash used in by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Debt issuance costs
Proceeds from long-term debt
Proceeds from rights offering
Payment of rights offering fees
Proceeds from drawings on line of credit
Repayment of line of credit
Repayment on long-term debt
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$

Reconciliation of net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Net loss on sale of property and equipment
Defined benefit pension plan expense
Deferred income tax credit
Decrease in accounts receivable
(Increase) decrease in inventories
Increase in deferred farming costs
Decrease in other current assets
Increase in accounts payable
Decrease in accrued payroll and benefits
(Decrease) increase in other current liabilities
Total adjustments
Net cash used in operating activities
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

4

13,533 $
(14,725)
(405)
(2)
(1,599)

11,568
(12,462)
(352)
(1,246)

—
(11,130)
(11,130)

1,493
(2,265)
(772)

(296)
13,378
—
—
2,810
(1,810)
(1,069)
13,013

—
—
9,180
(110)
2,300
(8,200)
(700)
2,470

284
786
1,070

$

452
205
657

$

(803) $

(4,653)

$

1,478
1
5
—
139
(1,577)
(1,656)
155
339
(82)
402
(796)
(1,599) $

1,320
1,870
5
(15)
658
1,755
(2,141)
150
367
(505)
(57)
3,407
(1,246)
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Royal Hawaiian Orchards, L.P.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (unaudited)
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activity:
●

For the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, $583,000 and $556,000, respectively, of depreciation expense was included in deferred farming
costs.

●

During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, upon completion of the rights offering, the Partnership netted $190,000 of offering costs against offering
proceeds, which were recorded on the balance sheet as of December 31, 2013.

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ROYAL HAWAIIAN ORCHARDS, L.P.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)
(1)

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Royal Hawaiian Orchards, L.P. (the “Partnership”) is a master limited partnership, organized under the laws of the State of Delaware in 1986. The accompanying
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of the Partnership and its subsidiaries Royal Hawaiian Resources, Inc. (“RHR”), Royal Hawaiian Services,
LLC (“RHS”) and Royal Hawaiian Macadamia Nut, Inc. (“Royal”), include all adjustments (consisting only of those of a normal recurring nature) that, in the
opinion of management, are necessary to present fairly their financial position as of September 30, 2015, and December 31, 2014, and the results of operations,
changes in partners’ capital and cash flows for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014. The results of operations for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2015 are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the full year or for any future period.
The December 31, 2014 condensed consolidated balance sheet data in this report was derived from audited consolidated financial statements contained in the
Partnership’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 (the “2014 Annual Report”), but does not include all disclosures required by
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The interim consolidated financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) in the 2014 Annual Report.
The Partnership’s business has historically been highly seasonal, reflecting the general pattern of peak harvest and sales of macadamia nuts during the fourth
quarter. Commencing in 2015, more than 70 percent of nuts harvested will be inventoried and used in its branded products segment and sold throughout the year
which will reduce seasonality.
(2)

CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Partnership and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated.
(3)

RECLASSIFICATION OF PRIOR YEAR PRESENTATION

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified for consistency with the current period presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on the reported results
of operations. In the fourth quarter of 2014, the Partnership concluded that it was appropriate to classify certain promotional and reclamation costs as a reduction to
revenue. Previously, these similar costs had been recorded in selling expenses. Accordingly, the Partnership has revised the classification to report these costs as a
reduction to revenue. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, $125,000 and $280,000, respectively, of total promotional and reclamation costs
were previously included in selling expenses.
(4)

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, which requires an entity to recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers. The ASU will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance in U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective. The new standard becomes effective for
the Partnership on January 1, 2017. Early adoption is not permitted. The standard permits the use of either the retrospective or cumulative effect transition method.
Recent tentative decisions by the FASB may delay the effective date of this ASU and some of its other provisions. The Partnership is evaluating the effect that ASU
2014-09 will have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. The Partnership has not yet selected a transition method nor has it determined the
effect of the standard on its ongoing financial reporting.

6
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In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, “Interest - Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs.” The
update requires debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the
related debt liability instead of being presented as an asset. Debt disclosures will include the face amount of the debt liability and the effective interest rate. The
update requires retrospective application and represents a change in accounting principle. The update is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2015. Early adoption is permitted for financial statements that have not been previously issued. ASU 2015-03 is not expected to have a material impact on the
Partnership’s condensed consolidated financial statements.
In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15, “Presentation of Financial Statements – Going Concern: Disclosures about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as
a Going Concern.” The new standard requires management to perform interim and annual assessments of an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern within
one year of the date the financial statements are issued. An entity must provide certain disclosures if conditions or events raise substantial doubt about the entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The new guidance is effective for annual periods ending after December 15, 2016, and interim periods thereafter. The
Partnership is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU No. 2014-15 on its consolidated financial statements.
In February 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-02, “Consolidation (Topic 810): Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis” (“ASU 2015-02”). The
amendments in ASU 2015-02 change the analysis that reporting entity must perform to determine whether it should consolidate certain types of legal entities. The
amendments in ASU 2015-02 are effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015. If an entity early adopts the amendments
in an interim period, any adjustments should be reflected as of the beginning of the fiscal year that includes that interim period. A reporting entity may apply the
amendments in ASU 2015-02 using a modified retrospective approach by recording a cumulative-effect adjustment to equity as of the beginning of the fiscal year
of adoption. A reporting entity also may apply the amendments retrospectively. ASU 2015-02 is not expected to have a material impact on our consolidated
financial statements.
(5)

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Partnership’s two reportable segments, orchards and branded products, are distinct business enterprises that have different products and services, customers
and regulatory environment. Both segments are organized on the basis of revenues and assets. The orchards segment derives its revenues from the sale of Wet-InShell macadamia nuts, sale of Dry-In-Shell macadamia nuts, sale of macadamia nut kernel to Royal, revenues from contract farming, and orchard lease income.
The branded products segment derives its revenues from the sale of branded macadamia nut products and bulk macadamia nut kernel by Royal.
Management evaluates the performance of each segment on the basis of operating income and topline growth. The Partnership accounts for intersegment sales and
transfers at cost, and such transactions are eliminated in consolidation.
The following tables summarize each reportable segment’s revenues, operating income or loss, assets and other information as of and for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2015 and 2014. Due to the seasonality of crop patterns and the timing of nut purchase contract fulfillment, interim results are not necessarily
indicative of annual performance.
Three Months Ended September 30, 2015
(in thousands)
Branded
Consolidation/
Orchards
Products
Reconciliation
Revenues (1)
External customers
Intersegment revenue
Total revenue

$
$

1,129
2,252
3,381

$
$

3,557(2) $
—
3,557
$

— $
(2,252)
(2,252) $

4,686
—
4,686

Operating income (loss)

$

(27) $

8

$

Depreciation and amortization

$

690

$

9

$

—

$

699

Capital expenditures

$

1,422

$

21

$

—

$

1,443

Segment assets

$

69,691

$

4,642

$

(10,575) $

63,758

7

(21) $

Total

(40)
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Three Months Ended September 30, 2014
(in thousands)
Branded
Consolidation/
Orchards
Products
Reconciliation
Revenues (1)
External customers
Intersegment revenue
Total revenue

$
$

3,918
433
4,351

$
$

Operating income (loss)

$

(581) $

Depreciation and amortization

$

740

$

Capital expenditures

$

949

Segment assets

$

55,877

Orchards
Revenues (1)
External customers
Intersegment revenue
Total revenue

$

994(2) $
—
994
$
(779)

— $
(433)
(433) $

Total
4,912
—
4,912

$

143

$

5

$

—

$

745

$

86

$

—

$

1,035

$

3,881

$

(7,612) $

52,146

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015
(in thousands)
Branded
Consolidation/
Products
Reconciliation

Total

$

$

4,829
8,428
13,257

Operating income (loss)

$

1,453

$

(705)

$

Depreciation and amortization

$

1,431

$

47

$

—

$

1,478

Capital expenditures

$

11,053

$

77

$

—

$

11,130

Segment assets

$

69,691

$

4,642

$

(10,575) $

63,758

8

$

8,419(2) $
—
8,419
$

(1,217)

— $
(8,428)
(8,428) $

13,248
—
13,248

(725) $

23
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Orchards
Revenues (1)
External customers
Intersegment revenue
Total revenue

$
$

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014
(in thousands)
Branded
Consolidation/
Products
Reconciliation

6,173
3,234
9,407

$
$

Operating income (loss)

$

(775) $

Depreciation and amortization

$

1,237

$

Capital expenditures

$

2,136

Segment assets

$

55,877

4,616(2) $
—
4,616
$
(1,909)

$

(2,364)

13

$

—

$

1,250

$

129

$

—

$

2,265

$

3,881

$

(7,612) $

52,146

Inventories consisted of the following (in thousands):
September 30,
2015

(7)

$

$

356 $
2,394
2,311
643
266
326
(6)
6,290 $

December 31,
2014
463
2,251
755
740
252
327
(75)
4,713

LAND, ORCHARDS AND EQUIPMENT

Land, orchards and equipment, stated at cost, consisted of the following (in thousands):
September 30,
2015
$
10,745 $
2,016
8,652
2,592
76,073
2,804
102,882
51,497
$
51,385 $

Land
Improvements
Machinery and equipment
Irrigation well and equipment
Producing orchards
Construction work-in-progress
Land, orchards and equipment, gross
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
Land, orchards and equipment, net

9

10,789
—
10,789

320

INVENTORIES

Nut-in-Shell
Dry-in-Shell
Macadamia nut kernel
Finished goods
Farming supplies
Packaging supplies and ingredients
Allowance for shrink and obsolescence
Total

— $
(3,234)
(3,234) $

$

(1) All revenues are from sources within the United States of America, Canada and Asia.
(2) Branded products revenue is reported net of slotting fees, trade discounts and promotional allowances.
(6)

Total

December 31,
2014
8,884
2,016
8,489
2,592
69,749
241
91,971
49,653
42,318
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(8)

DEFERRED FARMING COSTS

Orchard costs (e.g., irrigation, fertilizer and pruning) related to nuts sold under nut purchase contracts and services provided under farming contracts were expensed
to cost of revenues based on management’s estimate of the costs expected to be incurred to produce macadamia nuts sold during the interim reporting period, with
the difference between costs incurred-to-date and costs expensed-to-date reported on the consolidated balance sheet as deferred farming costs. Deferred farming
costs historically accumulate during the first and second quarter of the year and are expensed over the remainder of the year.
With the expiration of the final non-IASCO nut purchase contract in December 2014 and the Partnership’s retention of the harvested macadamia nuts in inventory,
a significant portion of incurred farming costs are now captured in the inventory asset, and expensed to cost of revenues when the inventory is sold.
(9)

INCOME TAXES

The Partnership is subject to a gross income tax as a result of its election to continue to be taxed as a partnership rather than as a corporation, as allowed by the
Taxpayer Relief Act of 1997. This tax is calculated at 3.5% on partnership gross profit.
Royal is subject to taxation as a C corporation at the current federal tax rate of 34% and 8.34% blended state tax rate on the corporation’s taxable income (loss). As
a result of the cumulative tax losses of Royal, the balance of the Partnership’s deferred tax asset on Royal’s net operating loss carry-forwards at September 30,
2015, was approximately $2.7 million, against which the Partnership has recorded a valuation allowance equal to 100% of the deferred tax asset due to the
uncertainty regarding future realization.
( 10 ) DEBT
As of the indicated dates, the Partnership had the following short and long-term debt outstanding (in thousands):
September 30,
2015
Short-Term Debt
2015 Bridge Loan (due 2016) (1)
$
Long-Term Debt
Revolving Credit Facility (due 2017)
$
2010 Term Loan (due 2020)
2015 6-Year Term Loan (due 2021)
2015 20-Year Term Loan (due 2045)
Other
Total principal amount of long-term debt
Less: current portion of long-term debt
Total long-term debt outstanding
$
_______________________
(1) Maturity date for the 2015 Bridge Loan may be earlier than 2016. See description of the 2015 Bridge Loan below.

December 31,
2014

2,835

$

—

1,000
5,075
4,886
5,265
23
16,249
2,202
14,047

$

—
5,775
—
—
—
5,775
1,050
4,725

$

The following table summarizes the Partnership’s principal maturities of its debt (in thousands):

Debt
________________________
(1) For remainder of 2015.

Total
$
19,084

$

2015(1)
485
$

Payments Due by Period
2016
2017
5,037 $
3,194 $

2018
2,188

$

2019
2,188

Remaining
$
5,992

Credit Agreement with AgCredit PCA
Pursuant to the Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated July 15, 2010 (as amended, the “Prior PCA Credit Agreement”), by and between the
Partnership and the Partnership’s wholly owned subsidiary Royal, as the borrowers, and American AgCredit, PCA, as lender (“AgCredit PCA”), the Partnership
had a revolving credit facility for $5 million (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) and an existing term loan of $10.5 million dollars (the “2010 Term Loan”). The Prior
PCA Credit Agreement was amended on various dates in 2011 through February 27, 2015, to extend the maturity date of the Revolving Credit Facility.

10
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On March 27, 2015, the Partnership and each of its wholly owned subsidiaries RHR, Royal and RHS, as the borrowers (the “Borrowers”), and AgCredit PCA, as
lender and as agent for such other persons who may be added as lenders from time to time, entered into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement that amended
and restated the terms of the Partnership’s outstanding borrowings with AgCredit PCA (as amended by the First PCA Credit Agreement Amendment, the Second
PCA Credit Agreement Amendment and the Third PCA Credit Agreement Amendment (each defined below), the “Amended PCA Credit Agreement”) The
Amended PCA Credit Agreement (i) increased the amount of the Revolving Credit Facility from $5 million to $9 million and extended its maturity from March 31,
2015, to March 27, 2017; (ii) reduced the interest rate of the 2010 Term Loan; and (iii) added a new term loan of $5.25 million that matures on March 27, 2021 (the
“2015 6-Year Term Loan”).
Pursuant to the Amended PCA Credit Agreement, the Revolving Credit Facility, the 2010 Term Loan, the 2015 6-Year Term Loan and the 2015 Bridge Loan (as
defined below) are collateralized by all of the personal and real property assets of the Borrowers. The Amended PCA Credit Agreement contains certain restrictions
associated with partner distributions, further indebtedness, sales of assets, and maintenance of certain financial covenants.
In connection with the Becker Property Acquisition (defined in Note 16 below), the Partnership and its subsidiaries entered into the First Amendment to Amended
and Restated Credit Agreement with AgCredit PCA, effective as of June 15, 2015 (the “First PCA Credit Agreement Amendment”). On June 29, 2015, the
Partnership and its subsidiaries entered into a Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with AgCredit PCA (the “Second PCA Credit
Agreement Amendment”) to delete a financial covenant for the quarter ended June 30, 2015. On September 22, 2015, the Borrowers and its subsidiaries entered
into a Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with AgCredit PCA (the “Third PCA Credit Agreement Amendment”) to delete a financial
covenant for the quarter ended September 30, 2015.
As of December 31, 2014, the Partnership was not in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Prior PCA Credit Agreement, which non-compliance was
waived by AgCredit PCA
Revolving Credit Facility . The Amended PCA Credit Agreement increased the Revolving Credit Facility from $5 million to $9 million and extended the maturity
from March 31, 2015, to March 27, 2017. Advances under the Revolving Credit Facility bear interest based on an election made by the Partnership at the time of
the advance at either LIBOR rates or at the base rate of the higher of (a) one-half of one percent (0.50%) per annum in excess of the latest Federal Funds Rate (as
defined in the Amended PCA Credit Agreement); and (b) the prime rate of interest in effect for such day as published from time to time in The Wall Street Journal .
The Partnership is required to pay a fee of 0.375% per annum on the daily unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility. The interest rate on the Revolving
Credit Facility at September 30, 2015, was 4.0% per annum.
As of September 30, 2015, the outstanding balance on the Revolving Credit Facility was $1.000 million, compared with no balance outstanding as of December 31,
2014.
2010 Term Loan . The Prior PCA Credit Agreement provided for the 2010 Term Loan of $10.5 million, which matures on July 1, 2020. The Amended PCA Credit
Agreement left the 2010 Term Loan in place but reduced the fixed interest rate under the 2010 Term Loan from 6.5% per annum to 6.0% per annum. As of
September 30, 2015, and December 31, 2014, the outstanding balance on the 2010 Term Loan was $5.075 million and $5.775 million, respectively.
2015 6- Year Term Loan . The Amended PCA Credit Agreement provided for the 2015 6-Year Term Loan of $5.25 million, which matures on March 27, 2021.
The 2015 6-Year Term Loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 4.01% per annum. The Partnership used the proceeds of the 2015 6-Year Term Loan to replace
working capital used to construct phase 1 of the Partnership’s drying plant and to finance the construction of Phase 2 of its drying plant. As of September 30, 2015,
the outstanding balance on the 2015 6-Year Term Loan was $4.886 million.
2015 Bridge Loan. The First PCA Credit Agreement Amendment provided for a bridge loan of $2.835 million (the “2015 Bridge Loan”), which matures on the
earlier of (a) March 15, 2016, or (b) the date that the Partnership or any of its wholly subsidiaries receives net proceeds from any issuance of equity, subject to
certain exceptions. The 2015 Bridge Loan bears interest at the base rate plus three quarters of one percent (0.75%) where the base rate is the higher of (i) one half
of one percent (0.5%) per annum in excess of the latest Federal Funds Rate, and (ii) the prime rate of interest in effect for such day as published from time to time
in The Wall Street Journal . The 2015 Bridge Loan is collateralized by all personal and real property assets of the Borrowers , including a second priority interest in
the properties acquired in the Becker Property Acquisition. The proceeds of the 2015 Bridge Loan were used by the Partnership on June 16, 2015, for the Becker
Property Acquisition. As of September 30, 2015, the outstanding balance on the Bridge Loan was $2.835 million
2015 20-Year Term Loan
Also in connection with the Becker Property Acquisition, the Partnership entered into a Credit Agreement, effective June 15, 2015 (the “FLCA Credit
Agreement”), with American AgCredit, FLCA (“Ag Credit FCLA”), providing for a $5.265 million, 20-year term loan (“2015 20-Year Term Loan”). The 2015 20Year Term Loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 5.29% per annum and requires quarterly payments, with fixed principal reductions, over the term. The 2015 20Year Term Loan matures on July 1, 2035. The Partnership used the proceeds of the 2015 20-Year Term Loan for the Becker Property Acquisition. The 2015 20Year Term Loan is secured by a mortgage on the properties acquired in the Becker Property Acquisition. As of September 30, 2015, the outstanding balance on the
2015 20-Year Term Loan was $5.265 million.
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(11) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The fair value of the Revolving Credit Facility is approximately the carrying value due to the variability of the interest rate and frequency that the interest rate
resets on the line of credit.
The estimated fair value of the Partnership’s fixed-rate bridge loan and term loans was determined using a discounted cash flow model using an estimated market
interest rate of 4.00% in 2015 and 4.25% in 2014 with similar terms and remaining maturities to that of the current financial instruments. The Partnership has not
considered lender fees in determining the estimated fair value.
The estimated fair values of the Partnership’s financial instruments are as follows (in thousands):

Bridge and term loans
Revolving credit facility

$
$

September 30,
2015
Carrying
Fair
Amount
Value
18,084 $
18,853
1,000 $
1,000

December 31,
2014
Carrying
Fair
Amount
Value
$
5,775 $
6,110
$
- $
-

The inputs used in determining the fair value of the bridge and term loans and Revolving Credit Facility are classified as Level 3 within the fair value measurement
hierarchy.
(12) PARTNERS’ CAPITAL
Net income (loss) per Class A Unit is calculated by dividing 100% of Partnership net income (loss) by the weighted average number of Class A Units outstanding
for the period.
( 13) PENSION PLAN
The Partnership sponsors a defined benefit pension plan covering employees who are members of a union bargaining unit. The Partnership’s funding policy is to
contribute an amount to the plan sufficient to meet the minimum funding requirements set forth in the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.
The components of net periodic pension cost consisted of the following (in thousands):

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on assets
Amortization of net actuarial loss and prior service cost
Net periodic pension cost

$

$

Pension Cost
Three Months Ended
Nine Months Ended
September 30,
September 30,
201 5
201 4
201 5
201 4
17 $
15 $
51 $
46
15
15
46
46
(17)
(16)
(51)
(49)
2
2
5
5
17 $
16 $
51 $
48

(14) INTERMITTENT SEVERANCE PLAN
The Partnership sponsors a defined intermittent severance benefit plan covering employees who are members of a union bargaining unit and not covered by the
defined benefit pension plan. Payment of the severance benefit is made when covered employees cease employment with the Partnership under certain terms and
conditions as defined in the union bargaining agreement.
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The components of net periodic intermittent severance cost consisted of the following (in thousands):

Service cost
Interest cost
Net periodic intermittent severance cost

$
$

Intermittent Severance Plan Cost
Three Months Ended
Nine Months Ended
September 30,
September 30,
201 5
201 4
201 5
201 4
5 $
4 $
15 $
3
4
9
8 $
8 $
24 $

13
12
25

( 15 ) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Partnership is involved in various commercial claims, litigation and other legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of its business. The Partnership
assesses these claims in an effort to determine the degree of probability and loss for potential accrual in its financial statements. In accordance with Accounting
Standards Codification 450, Contingencies, an accrual is recorded for a material loss contingency when its occurrence is probable and damages are reasonably
estimable based on the anticipated most likely outcome or the minimum amount within a range of possible outcomes. Because legal proceedings are inherently
unpredictable, and unfavorable resolutions can occur, assessing contingencies is highly subjective and requires judgments about uncertain future events. When
evaluating contingencies, the Partnership may be unable to provide a meaningful estimate of loss or recovery due to a number of factors, including the procedural
status of the matter in question, the presence of complex or novel legal theories, the ongoing discovery and/or development of information important to the matter.
The Partnership’s material loss contingency is discussed below. The Partnership is unable to estimate reasonably possible losses (in excess of recorded accruals, if
any) for this contingency for the reasons set forth above.
Olson Trust Matter . In January 2015, Edmund C. Olson, as trustee of The Edmund C. Olson Trust No. 2 (the “Olson Trust”), filed a complaint seeking a
declaratory judgment that the Partnership breached the terms of certain leases on which 367 tree acres of macadamia nut orchards are situated. The Olson Trust
claims that by failing to exercise “good husbandry” and permitting waste of the orchards through its horticultural practices, the Olson Trust is entitled to terminate
the leases and reenter and expel the Partnership from the orchards. In addition, the Olson Trust seeks unspecified termination damages. In February 2015, the
Partnership filed an answer and a cross-complaint against the Olson Trust, denying the claims of the Olson Trust and asserting claims of the Partnership for breach
of contract, unfair and deceptive competition, and injunctive relief, among others. The parties have agreed to stay proceedings in this matter pending binding
mediation.
(16) ACQUISITION
On June 16, 2015, pursuant to an Acquisition Agreement dated as of April 13, 2015, between the Partnership and Geyser Asset Management, Inc., a Delaware
corporation, as agent for the tenant in common investors (the “Acquisition Agreement”), the Partnership acquired approximately 736 acres of land located in
Keaau, Hawaii, for $8.1 million (the “Becker Property Acquisition”). As part of the transaction, the Partnership acquired certain rights, easements, and benefits
appurtenant to the Property, including all improvements, 641 acres of macadamia nut trees, and windbreak trees. The Partnership funded the Becker Property
Acquisition with $5.265 million in proceeds from the 2015 20-Year Term Loan and $2.835 million in proceeds from the 2015 Bridge Loan.
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Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, the Partnership assumed five leases, which require the lessees of the Property to pay the Partnership rent in the amount of
$272,538 for the period from July 1, through December 31, 2015, based on the annual base rent specified in the leases of $545,076 through December 31, 2015.
The annual base rent increases to $601,809 effective January 1, 2016 through December 31, 2021, the expiration date of the leases. The rent is required to be paid
to the Partnership in equal quarterly installments, including general excise tax.
Item 2.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity and capital resources should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto and the financial statements and the notes thereto contained in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 (“2014 Annual Report”). This discussion includes forward-looking statements that are subject
to risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause our actual results for this fiscal year and periods that follow to differ materially from those contemplated
by these forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include those identified below under the heading “Disclosure
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and those described in Part I, Item 1A – Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Overview
Royal Hawaiian Orchards, L.P. (the “Partnership”), is a vertically integrated producer, marketer and distributor of high-quality macadamia nut based products. We
are the largest macadamia nut farmer in Hawaii, farming approximately 5,385 tree acres of orchards that we own or lease in two locations on the island of Hawaii,
including 641 tree acres that we own and lease to another party. We also farm approximately 433 tree acres of macadamia orchards in Hawaii for other orchard
owners.
The Partnership was formed as a master limited partnership in 1986 owning macadamia nut orchards on owned and leased land. Vertical integration of our business
began in 2000 with the acquisition of farming operations from subsidiaries of C. Brewer and Company, Ltd. In 2012, we moved toward further vertical integration
by beginning to manufacture and sell a line of macadamia snacks under the brand name ROYAL HAWAIIAN ORCHARDS® through our wholly owned
subsidiary Royal Hawaiian Macadamia Nut, Inc. (“Royal”). In 2014, we completed construction of the first phase of our drying facility, which allows us more
control over processing our nuts as well as reducing our processing costs. We expect the second phase of our drying plant to be completed and the plant to be fully
operational in the fourth quarter of 2015.
Our macadamia snacks contain no artificial ingredients, contain no genetically modified organisms, are gluten-free, and have no sulfites. We sell our products to
national, regional and independent grocery and drug store chains, as well as mass merchandisers, club stores and other retail channels that target consumers with
healthy eating habits and disposable income necessary to afford premium products. We estimate that as of September 30, 2015, we had products in retail
distribution in approximately 11,500 stores in the United States and expect to be in at least 15,000 stores by the end of 2015.
During the three months ended September 30, 2015, we launched several new products. We made our first entry into the chocolate category, offering a line of dark
chocolate-covered macadamias with anti-oxidant fruits (acai, goji and pomegranate). We further expanded our product offerings by introducing 5-ounce bags of
natural macadamia nuts in all stores and 24-ounce bags of roasted salted macadamia nuts and blueberry pomegranate macadamia nuts in club stores.
Recent Developments
On June 16, 2015, pursuant to an Acquisition Agreement dated as of April 13, 2015, between the Partnership and Geyser Asset Management, Inc., a Delaware
corporation, as agent for the tenant in common investors (the “Acquisition Agreement”), the Partnership acquired approximately 736 acres of land located in
Keaau, Hawaii, for $8.1 million (the “Becker Property Acquisition”). As part of the transaction, the Partnership acquired certain rights, easements, and benefits
appurtenant to the Property, including all improvements, 641 acres of macadamia nut trees, and windbreak trees. The Partnership funded the Becker Property
Acquisition with $5.265 million in proceeds from the 2015 20-Year Term Loan and $2.835 million in proceeds from the 2015 Bridge Loan (each described below
under “Liquidity and Capital Resources”).
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Our Operations
We have two business segments: orchards and branded products. The orchards segment includes our orchard, farming and processing operations. The branded
products segment includes the development, manufacture and sale of branded products and the sale of processed kernel.
Our orchards segment derives its revenues from the sale of Wet-In-Shell (“WIS”) macadamia nuts grown in orchards we own or lease, the sale of Dry-In-Shell
(“DIS”) macadamia nuts, the sale of macadamia nut kernel to Royal, revenues from the farming of macadamia orchards owned by other growers and lease income.
Our financial results are principally driven by nut production, which is seasonal and highly contingent upon Hawaii’s climatic conditions, as well as nut prices. The
macadamia crop year in Hawaii runs from July 1 through June 30, with nuts generally being harvested from August through April. Nut production is generally
highest during the third and fourth quarters of the calendar year, with very low production in the first quarter and little or no production in the second quarter. Nut
production in the first half of the year is the result of pollination and nut-set that occurs during April through July or August of the previous year. Factors such as
cool temperatures to promote flower development, sunlight, adequate moisture and its distribution determine the length of the flower/pollination/nut-set season.
Our branded products segment derives its revenues from the sale of branded macadamia nut products and bulk macadamia nuts. Substantial advertising and
promotional expenditures are required to introduce a new product or maintain or improve a brand’s market position. Promotional allowances, such as slotting fees,
are netted against our revenues; therefore, an increase in promotional allowances without a resulting increase in sales may decrease our revenues. Accordingly, our
future success depends, in large part, on our ability to effectively maximize the return on these expenditures to implement our growth strategy of expanding
distribution and improving placement of our products and attracting new customers to our brand.
How We Evaluate Our Business
In operating our business and monitoring its performance, we pay attention to trends in the global and local macadamia nut industries and food manufacturing
industry. Management evaluates the performance of each segment on the basis of operating income and revenue growth. In addition, we manage our orchards
segment based on increased nut-in-shell productivity, farming costs, kernel recovery, cost stabilization and cash flow generation to support investment in our
branded products segment and fund other Partnership priorities. We manage our branded products segment based on sales (including the number of new stores
carrying our branded product), gross margins and selling expenses. The Partnership accounts for intersegment sales and transfers at cost plus a mark-up, and such
transactions are eliminated in consolidation. Our branded products segment should enjoy higher growth and has the potential for value-added innovation and
enhanced responsiveness to consumer marketing.
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Factors that May Affect Our Results of Operations
Our businesses are seasonal. While sales of our branded products are anticipated to be only slightly seasonal, with the fourth quarter of the calendar year being
somewhat higher, macadamia nut production is very seasonal, with the largest quantities typically being produced and then inventoried from September through
November, resulting in large inventories that will be converted into finished product and sold throughout the following year.
Historically, a substantial portion of our WIS revenues occur during our third and fourth quarters. We generally experience lower revenues during our first and
second quarters and may incur losses in these quarters. In addition, weather conditions may affect yields and delay harvesting, which may result in lower than
normal production and revenues within a particular fiscal quarter or fiscal year. Due to the seasonality of our business, a significant amount of working capital is
required for much of the harvesting season.
As of January 1, 2015, we have three long-term nut purchase agreements with Mauna Loa Macadamia Nut Corporation (“Mauna Loa”), expiring in 2029, 2078 and
2080. Under these agreements, all macadamia nuts produced from the orchards acquired from International Air Service Co., Ltd. (“IASCO”), which represented
approximately 21% our production in 2014, must be sold to and purchased by Mauna Loa at a predetermined price.
Under the IASCO agreements, we are paid based on WIS pounds at a price that is derived annually from a formula that factors in the Mauna Loa wholesale price of
the highest year-to-date volume fancy and choice products sold in Hawaii and the U.S. Department of Agriculture National Agricultural Statistics Service
(“NASS”) reported price of WIS Hawaii macadamia nuts for the period of delivery. If the Final NASS Report for the year contains a price or moisture that varies
from that used in the formula price calculations for nuts delivered during the year, then an adjustment is made between the parties. The NASS nut price for each
of the crop years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 was $0.87 per WIS pound.
In 2014, in addition to the IASCO agreements, we sold WIS nuts to Mauna Loa under two nut purchase contracts. The first contract which was effective from
January 1, 2011 through December 31, 2014 required the Partnership to sell one-third of its non-IASCO crop to Mauna Loa. The second contract, which was
effective from July 14, 2014 through October 31, 2014 required the Partnership to sell and Mauna Loa to purchase a minimum of 4 million pounds of WIS
macadamia nuts adjusted to 20% moisture and 30% kernel recovery at $1.00 per pound. In the nine months ended September 30, 2014, we sold approximately 65%
of our production under these contracts.
Prior to 2015, we sold most of our harvested macadamia nuts as wet-in-shell. We now retain most of our harvested macadamia nuts in inventory for our branded
products. The cost of the nuts plus costs of husking, drying and shelling are included in cost of goods sold when our branded products are sold. As a result, the
recognition of revenues and expensing of the associated farming costs now occur over a longer period.
Critical Accounting Estimates
We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Certain of our
accounting policies, including estimates of deferred farming costs, accrual for workers’ compensation claims, assumptions used to determine employee benefit
obligations, valuation of long-lived and intangible assets, carrying value of inventories, revenue recognition and accounts receivable, the calculation of our income
tax liabilities, and allocation of general and administrative costs to subsidiaries, require management to make significant judgments in defining the appropriate
assumptions for calculating financial estimates. By their nature, these judgments are subject to a degree of uncertainty. Management’s judgments are based on
historical experience, terms of existing contracts, observance of trends in the industry, crop information provided by customers and information available from
outside sources, as appropriate. Actual results may differ from these estimates. To provide an understanding of the methodology applied, significant accounting
policies are discussed where appropriate in this discussion and analysis and in the notes to consolidated financial statements in our 2014 Annual Report.
Results of Operations
Consolidated Revenues, Cost of Goods and Services Sold and Gross Profit
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, net revenue decreased $226,000 or 5% and increased $2.5 million or 23%, respectively, compared to the
same periods in 2014. The decrease in the three month period was due to a $2.8 million decrease in orchard revenues, partially offset by a $2.3 million increase in
revenues from the branded products segment. The increase in the nine month period was due to a $3.7 million increase in branded products sales, partially offset by
a $1.3 million decrease in orchards revenue. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, revenues from the orchards segment decreased due to the
retention of nuts in inventory as compared to 2014 when all third quarter production was sold to Mauna Loa, and revenues from our branded products segment
increased as a result of the expansion of our branded products into more stores.
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, cost of revenues sold decreased $1.9 million and $875,000, respectively, compared to the same periods in
2014 due to a lower volume of WIS nut sales to external parties, partially offset by an increase in bulk kernel and branded product sales. For the three months
ended September 30, 2015, we generated a gross profit of $1.4 million and a gross margin of 30%, compared to gross loss of $279,000 and gross margin of (6%)
for the same period on 2014. For the nine months ended September 30, 2015, we generated a gross profit of $3.8 million and a gross margin of 29%, compared to a
gross profit of $447,000 and a gross margin of 4% for the same period in 2014.
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On a consolidated basis, cost of branded products sales includes the cost of macadamia nuts from our orchards. Consolidated gross profit has increased due to our
vertical integration, which we believe has allowed us to dry and shell nuts at lower costs and sell bulk and branded macadamia nuts at higher prices compared to
sales of WIS nuts.
Orchards Segment
The orchards segment derives its revenues from the sale of WIS macadamia nuts, sale of DIS macadamia nuts, sale of macadamia nut kernel to Royal for our
branded products, revenues from contract farming, and orchard lease income.
The table below shows revenues, costs of revenues and gross profit and other financial information for our orchards segment for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015 and 2014. See Note 5 – Segment Information to the accompanying financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for a reconciliation of orchards segment results to our consolidated results.
Three Months Ended
(in thousands)
September 30, 2015 September 30, 2014
Revenues
External customers
Affiliated customer (Royal)
Total revenue

$

$

$

1,129
2,252
3,381

$

3,918
433
4,351

Cost of orchards revenue

$

2,711

$

4,425

Operating loss

$

(27) $

Depreciation and amortization

$

690

$

740

Capital expenditures

$

1,422

$

949

Segment assets

$

69,691

$

55,877

(581)

Nine Months Ended
(in thousands)
September 30, 2015 September 30, 2014
Revenues
External customers
Affiliated customer (Royal)
Total revenue

$

$

$

4,829
8,428
13,257

$

6,173
3,234
9,407

Cost of orchards revenue

$

10,224

$

9,036

Operating income (loss)

$

1,453

$

Depreciation and amortization

$

1,431

$

1,237

Capital expenditures

$

11,053

$

2,136

Segment assets

$

69,691

$

55,877

(775)

Revenues from external customers decreased $2.8 million to $1.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2015, as compared to $3.9 million for the same
period in 2014 due to decreased WIS pounds sold as we build inventory to be sold through our branded products segment. For the nine months ended September
30, 2015, revenues to external customers decreased by $1.3 million to $4.8 million, compared to $6.2 million for the same period in 2014, due to lower WIS pounds
sold partially offset by $1.2 million earned from 651,000 DIS pounds sold and an additional $340,000 in contract farming revenue from increased farming activity.
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, sales of macadamia nut kernel (also part of our branded products segment) to Royal, our affiliated
customer, increased $1.8 million and $5.1 million, respectively. Revenue for sales to Royal is recognized after the nuts have been husked, dried and shelled.
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For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, cost of orchards revenue decreased $1.7 million and increased $1.2 million, respectively. The lower
costs of orchards revenue of $2.7 million in the three months ended September 30, 2015, compared to $4.4 million for the same period in 2014 was due to
decreased WIS nut sales and a timing change, as production retained for processing for Royal has been added to our orchard segment inventory and associated costs
will be included in cost of orchards revenue when sold to Royal. The 13% increase in cost of orchard revenue to $10.2 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2015, compared to $9.0 million for the same period in 2014 was due to a 160% increase in sales of kernel to Royal and the addition of husking,
drying and shelling costs required for sales of kernel. Generally, our orchard segment receives a higher overall gross margin from sales of kernel as compared to
sales of WIS nuts.
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, our operating loss decreased $554,000 and $2.2 million, respectively. The decrease in operating loss to
$27,000 in the three months ended September 30, 2015, compared to $581,000 for the same period in 2014 was due to higher margins obtained from sales of kernel
to Royal. The increase in operating income in the nine months ended September 30, 2015, to $1.5 million from an operating loss of $775,000 for the same period
in 2014 was due to higher margins obtained from sales of kernel to Royal and higher profit on sales to external customers (primarily the sale of DIS nuts).
Pursuant to the Becker Property Acquisition on June 16, 2015, we assumed five leases, which require the lessees of the properties to pay rent to us in the amount of
$272,538 for the period from July 1, 2015, through December 31, 2015. Beginning January 1, 2016, through December 31, 2021, the annual rent is $601,809,
payable in quarterly installments. The lessee is responsible for all costs for the property, including real estate taxes and orchard maintenance. The leases expire on
December 31, 2021. For the third quarter in 2015, we recorded $148,000 in lease income from the leased orchards.
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, nut production, nut prices and WIS nut revenue were as follows:

Nuts harvested
Three months ended September 30, 2015
WIS pounds (000’s pounds)
Nut price (per WIS pound, IASCO only)
Total nut sales ($000’s)
Price per WIS pound (Net nut sales)
Three months ended September 30, 2014
WIS pounds (000’s pounds)
Adjustment for WIS @ 20% SK/DIS @ 30%
Adjusted WIS pounds (000’s pounds)
Nut price (per adjusted WIS pound)
Nut price (per WIS pound, IASCO only)
Net nut sales ($000’s)
Qtr 1&2 nut revenue adjustment ($000’s)
Prior year nut revenue adjustment ($000’s)
Total nut sales ($000’s)
Price per WIS pound (Net nut sales)
Nine months ended September 30, 2015
WIS pounds (000’s pounds)
Nut price (per WIS pound, IASCO only)
Total nut sales ($000’s)
Price per WIS pound (Net nut sales)
Nine months ended September 30, 2014
WIS pounds (000’s pounds)
Adjustment for WIS @ 20% SK/DIS @ 30%
Adjusted WIS pounds (000’s pounds)
Nut price (per adjusted WIS pound)
Nut price (per WIS pound, IASCO only)
Net nut sales ($000’s)
Prior period nut revenue adjustment ($000’s)
Total nut sales ($000’s)
Price per WIS pound (Net nut sales)

Nut Purchase Contract Production
Nut Purchase
Contracts Nut Purchase
IASCO
Contract
Orchards,
Based on
Total WIS
Based
Adjusted WIS
Production
on WIS Pounds
Pounds
Sold

$
$
$

660
0.7677
507
0.7677

$
$

425
—
425
—
0.7012
298
49
89
436
0.7012

$
$
$

2,623
0.8363
2,193
0.8363

$
$

$
$
$
$

2,056
—
2,056
—
0.8127
1,671
89
1,760
0.8127

18

$
$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$
$

$
$
$
$

—
—
—
—
4,914
(1,740)
3,174
0.9294
—
2,950
—
—
2,950
0.6003
—
—
—
—
5,809
(1,921)
3,888
0.9002
—
3,500
—
3,500
0.6025

$
$
$

660
0.7677
507
0.7677

Production
Retained by
Partnership

Total
Production

4,019

4,678

—

5,339

$
$

5,339
(1,740)
3,599
—
—
3,248
49
89
3,386
0.6084
2,623
0.8363
2,193
0.8363

8,511

11,133

$
$
$

7,865
(1,921)
5,944
—
—
5,171
89
5,260
0.6575

1,332

9,197

$
$

$
$
$
$
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For the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, production was 4.7 million and 5.3 million WIS pounds, respectively. The decrease in third quarter
production in 2015 as compared to the same period in 2014 was attributable to a late start to and a short period of flowering at Keaau, which changed the timing
and quantity of nut drop, as well as unseasonably high rainfall during the late summer, which reduced harvesting time. For the three months ended September 30,
2015, production related to the IASCO contracts increased 235 thousand pounds or 55% as compared to the same period in 2014, when the harvest was reduced due
to the impact of Tropical Storm Iselle. For the nine months ended September 30, 2015, production related to the IASCO contracts increased 567 pounds or 28% as
compared to the same period in 2014 due to increased production in the third quarter as noted above and a stronger first quarter of 2015 due primarily to the timing
of the nut drop and harvest delays in the fourth quarter of 2014 caused by storms resulting in some production carry-over into the first quarter of 2015. In order to
build inventory to be sold through our branded products segment, we retained 4,019 and 8,511 thousand pounds for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2015, respectively as compared to 0 and 1,332 pounds for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively.
Farming costs are recognized when our products are sold to external customers. Farming costs related to WIS nuts are capitalized as deferred farming costs until
sold to external customers. Farming costs related to our branded products are initially capitalized as deferred farming costs and subsequently added to our branded
products inventory until sold to external customers.
Cost of orchards revenue for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, is based on the current estimated standard cost of $0.60 per WIS pound
compared with an estimated standard cost of $0.64 per WIS pound for the same periods of 2014. The standard cost per pound for each period is determined by
dividing the estimated annual farming costs by forecasted annual production. The standard cost per WIS pound was higher during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2014, due to lower estimated annual production during 2014 as a result of Tropical Storm Iselle. The deferred farming costs balance is
fully allocated at the end of the calendar year.
Branded Products Segment
Our branded products segment derives its revenues from the sale of bulk nuts and three product lines of better for you macadamia nut snacks sold under the
ROYAL HAWAIIAN ORCHARDS® brand name and reported under Royal.
Financial information for our branded products segment for each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, are set forth in the following
table.
For the Three Months Ended
(in thousands, except percentages)
Total gross revenues
Total deductions to revenues
Net revenues
Total cost of revenues
Total gross profit
General and administrative expenses
Selling expenses
Operating income (loss)

September 30, 2015
$

$

3,857
300
3,557
2,804
753
229
515
9

September 30, 2014
$

100%
79% (1)
21% (1)
6% (1)
14% (1)
—% (1)

$

1,366
372
994
1,101
(107)
364
432
(903)

Change
$

100%
111% (1)
(11%)(1)
37% (1)
43% (1)
(91%)(1)

$

2,491
(72)
2,563
1,703
860
(135)
83
912

% Change
182%
(19%)
258%
155%
804%
(37%)
19%
101%

For the Nine Months Ended
(in thousands, except percentages)
Total gross revenues
Total deductions to revenues
Net revenues
Total cost of revenues
Total gross profit
General and administrative expenses
Selling expenses
Operating income (loss)
____________________
(1) As a percentage of net revenues.

September 30, 2015
$

$

9,368
949
8,419
6,946
1,473
722
1,457
(706)

September 30, 2014
$

100%
83%(1)
17%(1)
9%(1)
17%(1)
(8%)(1)

$

5,700
1,084
4,616
4,619
(3)
1,109
1,077
(2,189)

Change
$

100%
100%(1)
0%(1)
24%(1)
23%(1)
(47%)(1)

$

3,668
(135)
3,803
2,327
1,476
(387)
380
1,483

% Change
64%
(12%)
82%
50%
492%
(35%)
35%
68%

Gross segment revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2015, increased by $2.5 million (182%) to $3.9 million compared to $1.4 million for the same
period in 2014. Gross segment revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2015, increased by $3.7 million (64%) to $9.4 million compared to $5.7 million
for the same period in 2014. The higher gross revenue for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, resulted from a 425% increase (from $469,000 to
$2.5 million) and a 100% increase (from $3.1 million to $6.2 million), respectively, in bulk nut sales, combined with increases in gross sales of our branded
products. Bulk kernel sales were stronger than anticipated for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, due to limited market supply in the U.S.
mainland, which created a stronger demand for bulk kernel. This strong demand caused bulk kernel wholesale prices to range from $7.50 to $8.25 per pound during
the nine-month period. We capitalized on these higher bulk prices while continuing to develop new branded products.
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Deductions to revenue include slotting fees, trade and sales discounts, promotional incentives and reclamation charges. Deductions to revenue decreased by
approximately $72,000 and $135,000, respectively, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, compared with the same periods in 2014. For the
three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, such deductions were approximately 8% and 27%, respectively, of gross segment revenue. For the nine months
ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, such deductions were approximately 10% and 19%, respectively, of gross segment revenue. The decrease in deductions was
mainly attributable to reduced slotting fees and other initial promotional costs due to further establishment of our branded business. We offer a variety of sales and
promotion incentives to our customers, such as price discounts, advertising allowances, in-store displays and consumer coupons.
Cost of revenues (excluding inter-segment eliminations) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, increased by $1.7 million (155%) and $2.3
million (50%), respectively, compared to the same periods in 2014 due to the increased sales volume discussed above.
Operating income for the branded products segment for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, increased $912,000 and $1.5 million, respectively,
over the same periods in 2014 mainly due to higher gross profit from increased bulk sales.
General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses on a consolidated basis were $926,000 and $2.3 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively,
and were $691,000 and $2.0 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively. The increase in general and administrative expenses in
2015 compared to 2014 was mainly attributable to higher legal fees, employee placement and relocation costs and fees for other professional services.
Selling Expenses
Selling expenses on a consolidated basis were $515,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2015, compared to $247,000 for the same period in 2014. The
increase in selling expenses in the third quarter of 2015 was mainly attributable to higher storage and handling costs and higher commissions paid to brokers as
bulk and branded sales increased. Selling expenses were $1.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015, compared to $796,000 for the same period in
2014. The increase in selling expenses in the third quarter of 2015 was again attributable to higher storage and handling costs, higher commissions paid to brokers,
higher advertising costs, further product development costs and other selling and marketing expenses.
Interest Expense
Interest expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, was $245,000 and $529,000, respectively, compared to $108,000 and $387,000 for the
same periods in 2014. The increase in 2015 was attributable to the additional debt incurred in 2015 for the Becker Property Acquisition and Phases 1 and 2 of our
drying plant.
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Other Income and Expenses (net)
Other expense of $189,000 recorded for the nine months ended September 30, 2015, was attributable to $281,000 of costs incurred for the repair of damages
sustained by a wind storm and other expenses in the amount of $53,000, partially offset by other income of $57,000 from a patronage dividend received from
AgCredit PCA, and $88,000 from net insurance proceeds from a prior year crop insurance claim. Other expense of $27,000 recorded for the nine months ended
September 30, 2014, was attributable to a patronage dividend received from AgCredit PCA of $80,000 offset by storm damage costs of $115,000 incurred from
Tropical Storm Iselle in August of 2014.
Net Loss on Sale of Property
Loss from the sale of equipment for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, was 0 and $1,000, respectively. For the nine months ended September
30, 2014, loss on the disposition of property and equipment was $1.9 million, including a loss of $1.8 million resulting from the sale of the Mauna Kea orchard
following the termination of the Mauna Kea orchard lease.
Net Income
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, we recorded net losses of $216,000 and $803,000, respectively, compared to net losses of $1.4 million
and $4.6 million, respectively, for the same periods in 2014. The reduction in net loss in both the three and nine-month periods was primarily attributable to higher
operating income in both our orchards segment and branded products segment during 2015 as compared to 2014. In addition, our loss during the nine months ended
September 30, 2014, also included the $1.8 million loss on sale of trees and other improvements following the termination of our Mauna Kea orchard lease.
Income Taxes
We are subject to a gross income tax as a result of our election to continue to be taxed as a partnership rather than as a corporation, as allowed by the Taxpayer
Relief Act of 1997. This tax is calculated at 3.5% on our gross profit. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, gross income tax expense was
$23,000 and $108,000, respectively, compared to a $11,000 gross income tax benefit and $5,000 gross income tax expense, respectively, for the same periods in
2014.
Our wholly owned subsidiary Royal is subject to taxation as a C corporation at the current federal tax rate of 34% and a blended state tax rate of 8.34% on the
corporation’s taxable income (loss). As a result of the cumulative tax losses of Royal, the balance of our deferred tax asset on Royal’s net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) at September 30, 2015, was $2.7 million, against which we have recorded a valuation allowance equal to 100% of the deferred tax asset due to
the uncertainty regarding future realization of these NOLs.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our businesses are seasonal. Production normally peaks in the fall and winter; however, farming operations continue year round. In general, a significant amount of
working capital is required for much of the harvesting season, as we are increasing our inventory of nuts to support the growth of our branded products.
We have traditionally met our working capital needs with cash on hand and through borrowings under a revolving credit facility.

(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll and benefits
Working Capital (1)

September 30,
2015
$
1,070 $
1,682
6,290
1,354
919
3,787

December 31,
2014
786
1,821
4,713
1,015
1,001
4,627

(1) Working capital consists of total current assets less total current liabilities.
The decrease in working capital as of September 30, 2015, was mainly due to the increase in short-term debt. In 2015, we increased our borrowings under our
credit facilities, including the 2015 Bridge Loan of $2.835 million that matures March 15, 2016, to finance the construction of phase 2 of our drying facility, for
general partnership purposes and for the acquisition of orchards. We anticipate that our cash on hand, cash flow provided by operating activities and borrowings
under our Revolving Credit Facility will be sufficient to fund our operating expenses and make required debt service payments for the next 12 months, including
payment of the 2015 Bridge Loan.
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Debt
As of the indicated dates, we had the following short and long-term debt outstanding (in thousands):
September 30,
2015
Short-Term Debt
2015 Bridge Loan (due 2016) (1)
$
Long-Term Debt
Revolving Credit Facility (due 2017)
$
2010 Term Loan (due 2020)
2015 6-Year Term Loan (due 2021)
2015 20-Year Term Loan (due 2045)
Other
Total principal amount of long-term debt
Less: current portion of long-term debt
Total long-term debt outstanding
$
_______________________
(1) Maturity date for the 2015 Bridge Loan may be earlier than 2016. See description of the 2015 Bridge Loan below.

December 31,
2014

2,835

$

—

1,000
5,075
4,886
5,265
23
16,249
2,202
14,047

$

—
5,775
—
—
—
5,775
1,050
4,725

$

The following table summarizes the Partnership’s principal maturities of its debt (in thousands):

Debt
________________________
(1) For remainder of 2015.

Total
$
19,084

$

2015(1)
485
$

Payments Due by Period
2016
2017
5,037 $
3,194 $

2018
2,188

$

2019
2,188

Remaining
$
5,992

Credit Agreement with AgCredit PCA . Pursuant to the Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated July 15, 2010 (as amended, the “Prior PCA Credit
Agreement”), by and between us and our wholly owned subsidiary Royal, as the borrowers, and American AgCredit, PCA, as lender (“AgCredit PCA”), the
Partnership had a revolving credit facility for $5 million (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) and an existing term loan of $10.5 million dollars (the “2010 Term
Loan”). The Prior PCA Credit Agreement was amended on various dates in 2011 through February 27, 2015, to extend the maturity date of the Revolving Credit
Facility.
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On March 27, 2015, we and each of our wholly owned subsidiaries RHR, Royal and RHS, as the borrowers (the “Borrowers”), and AgCredit PCA, as lender and as
agent, entered into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement that amended and restated the terms of our outstanding borrowings with AgCredit PCA (as
amended by the First PCA Credit Agreement Amendment, the Second PCA Credit Agreement Amendment and the Third PCA Credit Agreement Amendment
(each defined below), the “Amended PCA Credit Agreement”) The Amended PCA Credit Agreement (i) increased the amount of the Revolving Credit Facility
from $5 million to $9 million and extended its maturity from March 31, 2015, to March 27, 2017; (ii) reduced the interest rate of the 2010 Term Loan; and
(iii) added a new term loan of $5.25 million that matures on March 27, 2021 (the “2015 6-Year Term Loan”).
Pursuant to the Amended PCA Credit Agreement, the Revolving Credit Facility, the 2010 Term Loan, the 2015 6-Year Term Loan and the 2015 Bridge Loan (as
defined below) are collateralized by all of the personal and real property assets of the Borrowers.
The Amended PCA Credit Agreement contains certain restrictions associated with partner distributions, further indebtedness, sales of assets, and maintenance of
certain financial covenants. The financial covenants under the Amended PCA Credit Agreement include a requirement that we achieve minimum Consolidated
Adjusted EBITDA for the four-quarter period ending on the last day of each fiscal quarter (the “Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA Covenant”) as follows:
Fiscal Quarter Ended/Ending

Minimum
Consolidated
Adjusted EBITDA
$
1,500,000
$
3,000,000
$
3,500,000
$
4,000,000
$
5,000,000

September 30, 2015
December 31, 2015
March 31, 2016
June 30, 2016
September 30, 2016 and each fiscal quarter thereafter
___________________
(1) Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure based on the definition of Consolidated EBITDA in the Amended PCA Credit Agreement,
which is defined as the sum (without duplication) of (a) consolidated net income determined in accordance with GAAP; plus (b) the sum of (i) Federal, state,
local and foreign income taxes, (ii) interest expense (including the interest portion of any capitalized lease obligations), (iii) depletion, depreciation, and
amortization, and (iv) extraordinary losses; minus (c) the sum of (i) gains on asset sales and (ii) extraordinary gains.
Management believes that the Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA Covenant is a material term of the Amended PCA Credit Agreement and that information about the
Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA Covenant is material to an investor's understanding of our performance and ability to comply with our loan covenants.
In connection with the Becker Property Acquisition, we entered into the First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with AgCredit PCA,
effective as of June 15, 2015 (the “First PCA Credit Agreement Amendment”). The First PCA Credit Agreement Amendment amended the Amended PCA Credit
Agreement to add the 2015 Bridge Loan. On June 29, 2015, we entered into a Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with AgCredit PCA
(the “Second PCA Credit Agreement Amendment”) to delete the Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA Covenant for the quarter ended June 30, 2015. On September 22,
2015, we entered into a Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with AgCredit PCA (the “Third PCA Credit Agreement Amendment to
delete the Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA Covenant for the quarter ended September 30, 2015. Our actual Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for the four-quarter
period ended September 30, 2015, was $1.057 million.
We expect to be in compliance with the Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA Covenant for the quarter ended December 31, 2015, and for each quarter thereafter, as we
grow revenues from our branded products. We plan to seek an amendment to or a waiver under the Amended PCA Credit Agreement from AgCredit PCA if we
determine we cannot achieve the required Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for the quarter. If we need but do not obtain an amendment or waiver from AgCredit
PCA during any quarter, our failure to comply with the Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA Covenant would result in a default under the Amended PCA Credit
Agreement and under each of the 2010 Term Loan, the 2015 6-Year Term Loan, the 2015 Bridge Loan and the 2015 20-Year Term Loan and would require that we
sell equity or obtain other sources of debt financing.
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As of December 31, 2014, we were not in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Prior PCA Credit Agreement, which non-compliance was waived by
AgCredit PCA
Revolving Credit Facility. The Amended PCA Credit Agreement increased the Revolving Credit Facility from $5 million to $9 million and extended the maturity
from March 31, 2015, to March 27, 2017. Advances under the Revolving Credit Facility bear interest based on an election made by us at the time of the advance at
either LIBOR rates or at the base rate of the higher of (a) one-half of one percent (0.50%) per annum in excess of the latest Federal Funds Rate (as defined in the
Amended PCA Credit Agreement); and (b) the prime rate of interest in effect for such day as published from time to time in The Wall Street Journal . We are
required to pay a fee of 0.375% per annum on the daily unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility. The interest rate on the Revolving Credit Facility at
September 30, 2015, was 4.0% per annum.
As of September 30, 2015, the outstanding balance on the Revolving Credit Facility was $1.000 million, compared with no balance outstanding as of December 31,
2014.
2010 Term Loan . The Prior PCA Credit Agreement provided for the 2010 Term Loan of $10.5 million, which matures on July 1, 2020. The Amended PCA Credit
Agreement left the 2010 Term Loan in place but reduced the fixed interest rate under the 2010 Term Loan from 6.5% per annum to 6.0% per annum. As of
September 30, 2015, and December 31, 2014, the outstanding balance on the 2010 Term Loan was $5.075 million and $5.775 million, respectively.
2015 6-Year Term Loan. The Amended PCA Credit Agreement provided for the 2015 6-Year Term Loan of $5.25 million, which matures on March 27, 2021. The
2015 6-Year Term Loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 4.01% per annum. We used the proceeds of the 2015 6-Year Term Loan to replace working capital used to
construct phase 1 of our drying plant and to finance the construction of phase 2 of our drying plant. As of September 30, 2015, the outstanding balance on the 2015
6-Year Term Loan was $4.886 million.
2015 Bridge Loan. The First PCA Credit Agreement Amendment provided for a bridge loan of $2.835 million (the “2015 Bridge Loan”), which matures on the
earlier of (a) March 15, 2016, or (b) the date that we receive net proceeds from any issuance of equity, subject to certain exceptions. The 2015 Bridge Loan bears
interest at the base rate plus three quarters of one percent (0.75%) where the base rate is the higher of (i) one half of one percent (0.5%) per annum in excess of the
latest Federal Funds Rate, and (ii) the prime rate of interest in effect for such day as published from time to time in The Wall Street Journal . We used the proceeds
of the 2015 Bridge Loan for the Becker Property Acquisition. The 2015 Bridge Loan is collateralized by all personal and real property assets of the Borrowers ,
including a second priority interest in the properties acquired in the Becker Property Acquisition. As of September 30, 2015, the outstanding balance on the 2015 6Year Bridge Loan was $2.835 million.
2015 20-Year Term Loan . Also in connection with the Becker Property Acquisition, we entered into a Credit Agreement, effective June 15, 2015 (the “FLCA
Credit Agreement”), with American AgCredit, FLCA (“Ag Credit FCLA”), providing for a $5.265 million, 20-year term loan (“2015 20-Year Term Loan”). The
2015 20-Year Term Loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 5.29% per annum and requires quarterly payments, with fixed principal reductions, over the term. The
2015 20-Year Term Loan matures on July 1, 2035. We used the proceeds of the 2015 20-Year Term Loan for the Becker Property Acquisition, and the loan is
secured by a mortgage on the properties acquired in the Becker Property Acquisition. As of September 30, 2015, the outstanding balance on the 2015 20-Year Term
Loan was $5.265 million.
The AgCredit FLCA contains covenants customarily found in mortgages regarding operation and maintenance of the properties as well as certain financial
covenants, including an adjusted EBITDA covenant which does not become effective until the quarter ending December 31, 2016.
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Cash Flows
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, our beginning balance of cash, net cash flows provided by or used in operating, investing and financing
activities and ending cash balance:

(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$

$

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2015
2014
786 $
205
(1,599)
(1,246)
(11,130)
(772)
13,013
2,470
1,070 $
657

Operating Cash Flow . Net cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, was $1.6 million and $1.2 million,
respectively, an increase of $400,000. The increase in cash used in operating activities was primarily attributable to a $2.0 million increase in cash receipts, offset
by a $2.3 million increase in cash payments. The increase in cash receipts and payments was primarily attributable to increased branded and bulk sales offset by
increased costs for DIS processing as we continued to build up our DIS inventory.
Investing Cash Flow . Cash used in investing activities of $11.1 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2015, primarily included $8.1 million used for the
Becker Property Acquisition and $3.0 million used to purchase equipment for phase 2 of our drying plant. Cash used of $2.3 million in the nine months ended
September 30, 2014, was primarily used to purchase equipment for phase 1 of our drying plant, which was completed in November 2014 at a cost of approximately
$3.1 million. This was offset by $1.5 million cash received from the sale of trees and other personal property upon termination of the Mauna Kea orchard lease and
the settlement of all claims under the lease, resulting in $772,000 net cash used for investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2014.
Financing Cash Flow . Financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2015, consisted of proceeds from long-term borrowings of approximately
$2.835 million from the 2015 Bridge Loan, $5.25 million under the 2015 6-Year Term Loan, $5.265 million under 2015 20-Year Term Loan and approximately
$2.8 million under our Revolving Credit Facility. We used the $2.835 million borrowed under the 2015 Bridge Loan and $5.265 million borrowed under the 2015
20-Year Term to finance the $8.1 million purchase price for the Becker Property Acquisition. We used the $5.25 million borrowed under the 2015 6-Year Term
Loan to replace working capital used to construct phase 1 of our drying plant and to finance the construction of phase 2 of our drying plant. We made payments on
our long term debt in the amount of $2.8 million, which includes $1.8 million on our Revolving Credit Facility, during the nine months ended September 30, 2015.
We incurred debt issuance fees of $296,000 for the credit facilities entered into in 2015, which are being amortized over the term of the term loans and the
Revolving Credit Facility. Financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2014, consisted of borrowings of $2.3 million under our Revolving Credit
Facility and the receipt of net proceeds in the period of approximately $9.07 million from completion of our subscription rights offering in February 2014, which
were partially offset by the use of $8.2 million to pay down our revolving credit facility with AgCredit (in order to reduce our interest costs) and $700,000 to make
regularly scheduled payments on the 2010 Term Loan.
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Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
Statements that are not historical facts contained or incorporated by reference into this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are “forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ from
projected results. The words “anticipate,” “goal,” “seek,” “project,” “strategy,” “future,” “likely,” “may,” “should,” “will,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “plan,”
“intend” and similar expressions and references to future periods, as they relate to us, are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking
statements include statements we make regarding:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

projections of revenues, expenses, income or loss;
quarterly results not being indicative of annual performance;
trends in our business, including seasonality of nut production and sales of branded products;
estimates of deferred farming costs and the timing of the recognition of such costs;
our plans, objectives and expectations, including those relating to regulatory actions, business plans, products or services;
amount of kernel produced in our orchards segment that will be inventoried and used in our branded products;
estimated production;
completion of phase 2 of our drying plant;
extension of the harvesting season;
opportunities to acquire orchards and/or increase development;
expected margins on sales of kernel as compared to sales of WIS nuts;
increase in revenues from our branded products segment;
increase or decreases in expenditures on slotting fees and other promotional activities and their impact on revenues;
growth, innovation and responsiveness of our branded products segment;
future economic performance;
industry trends;
our expectations of being able to comply with the financial covenants in our credit agreements;
plans to seek an amendment to our loan agreements if necessary to prevent noncompliance with a financial covenant;
legal proceedings;
sufficiency of cash on hand, cash flow provided by operating activities and borrowings under our revolving credit facility to fund operating
expenses; and
expected impact of new accounting standards on our financial statements.

Forward-looking statements reflect our current views with respect to future events and are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results
could differ materially from those in such statements. Factors that could cause actual results to differ from those discussed in such forward-looking statements
include, without limitation, the risk factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014, as well as risks
associated with the following:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

changing interpretations of GAAP;
changes in macadamia nut prices;
world market conditions relating to macadamia nuts;
the weather and local conditions in Hawaii affecting macadamia nut production;
legislation or regulatory environments, requirements or changes adversely affecting our businesses;
general economic conditions;
geopolitical events and regulatory changes;
our ability to retain and attract skilled employees;
our success in finding purchasers for our macadamia nut production at acceptable prices;
increasing competition in the snack food market;
the availability of and our ability to negotiate acceptable agreements with third parties that are necessary for our business, including those with nut
processors, co-packers, distributors and transportation companies;
market acceptance of our products in the branded segment;
the availability and cost of raw materials;
changes in fuel and labor costs;
our success at managing the risks involved in the foregoing items; and
other factors discussed from time to time in our press releases, public statements and documents filed or furnished with the SEC

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which such statements are made. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement,
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. All forward-looking statements are expressly qualified by these cautionary statements.
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Item 3.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

In the ordinary course of business, we are exposed to various market risks, including those resulting from changes in the market price of macadamia kernel and
changes in interest rates. There have been no significant changes in our market risk exposures since December 31, 2014. See “Part II, Item 7A – Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014, for further discussion on quantitative and
qualitative disclosures about market risk.
Item 4.

Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
As of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (the “Evaluation Date”), we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with
the participation of management, including the Chief Executive Officer/Principal Financial Officer of the managing general partner of the Partnership, of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of the Partnership’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act). Based upon
that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer/Principal Financial Officer concluded that, as of the Evaluation Date, the Partnership’s disclosure controls and
procedures were effective. The Partnership’s disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Partnership
in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s
applicable rules and forms, and (ii) accumulated and communicated to the Partnership’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer/Principal Financial
Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Changes in Internal Financial Reporting
No changes were made to internal control over financial reporting during the period covered by this report that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Part II – Other Information
Item 1.

Legal Proceedings

Edmund C. Olson, as Trustee of The Edmund C. Olson Trust No. 2 vs. Royal Hawaiian Orchards, L.P . On January 22, 2015, Edmund C. Olson, as trustee of The
Edmund C. Olson Trust No. 2 (the “Olson Trust”), filed a complaint seeking a declaratory judgment that the Partnership has breached the terms of the leases for the
Green Shoe I Orchard and the Green Shoe II Orchard, on which 367 tree acres of macadamia nut orchards are situated. The Olson Trust claims that by failing to
exercise “good husbandry” and permitting waste of the orchards through its horticultural practices, the Olson Trust is entitled to terminate the leases and reenter
and expel the Partnership from the orchards. Pursuant to the lease agreements, the lease terms of the Green Shoe I Lease and Green Shoe II Lease expire in 2019
and 2034, respectively. In addition, the Olson Trust seeks termination damages in an amount to be proven at trial. On or about February 17, 2015, the Partnership
filed an answer and a cross-complaint against the Olson Trust, denying the claims of the Olson Trust and asserting claims of the Partnership for breach of contract,
unfair and deceptive competition, and injunctive relief, among others. The Partnership believes the claims of the Olson Trust are without merit. The Olson Trust
has denied the claims asserted in the Partnership’s cross-claim. On September 17, 2015, the parties signed a Joint Stipulation to Engage in Binding Mediation of
Proceedings and to Stay Court Litigation Pending Binding Mediation (the “Joint Stipulation”) to stay the court proceedings pending the issuance of a written report
by a panel of three farming experts determining whether the Partnership has been practicing “good husbandry” or “strip or waste” at each orchard. The panel’s
report is to include recommendations of any practices or operational changes that should be implemented to bring the leases into compliance with “good
husbandry” and to prevent “strip or waste.” The parties have agreed to timely perform all recommendations in the panel’s report. The parties have further agreed
that the report shall be enforceable in the State Courts of Hawaii to the same extent as an arbitration award. The parties are waiting for an order from the court
approving the Joint Stipulation, at which time the parties will be required to commence selection of the panel of experts.
Item 6.

Exhibits

The following documents are filed or furnished as required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K:
Exhibit
Number
3.1

Description
Certificate of Limited Partnership of the Partnership, as amended, as filed with the Delaware Secretary of State (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on November 6, 2013)

3.2

Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Partnership, dated as of October 1, 2012 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 4, 2012), as amended by Amendment to the
Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Partnership, dated as of November 1, 2013 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 4, 2013)

10.1

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, by and among and American AgCredit, PCA, as Agent for
such other persons who may be added as Lenders from time to time, and the Partnership, Royal Hawaiian Resources, Inc.,
Royal Hawaiian Services, LLC, and Royal Hawaiian Macadamia Nut, Inc., collectively Borrowers and each, a Borrower,
dated as of June 29, 2015

11.1

Statement re Computation of Net Income (Loss) per Class A Unit

31.1
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By:

Royal Hawaiian Resources, Inc.
Managing General Partner

By:
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President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive and Financial Officer)

Date: November 16, 2015
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Exhibit 10.1
THIRD AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT
This Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of September 22, 2015 (this “ Amendment ”), is made by and among
American AgCredit, PCA, in its capacity as agent under the Credit Agreement referred to below (in such capacity, “ Agent ”), the “ Lenders ” under and as defined
in such Credit Agreement, Royal Hawaiian Orchards, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (“ RHO ”), Royal Hawaiian Resources, Inc., a Hawaii corporation (“
RHR ”), Royal Hawaiian Services, LLC, a Hawaii limited liability company (“ RHS ”), and Royal Hawaiian Macadamia Nut, Inc., a Hawaii corporation (“ RHMN
” and, together with RHO, RHR, and RHS, collectively “ Borrowers ” and each, a “ Borrower ” and, together with any other “Credit Party” under and as defined in
the Credit Agreement, the “ Credit Parties ”), and RHO, as Borrower Representative, with reference to the following:
RECITALS
A. Agent, Lenders, and the Credit Parties are parties to that certain Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of March 27, 2015, as amended
by a First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of June 15, 2015, as further amended by a Second Amendment to Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement dated as of June 29, 2015 (as it may be further amended, restated, modified or supplemented from time to time, the “ Credit Agreement
”).
B. The Credit Parties have requested that Agent and Lenders agree to amend the terms of the Credit Agreement, and Agent and Lenders are willing to
do so on the terms and conditions set forth in this Amendment.
In consideration of the foregoing, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties
agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS AND AGREEMENTS
Section 1.1
Affirmation of Recitals; Defined Terms . Each Credit Party acknowledges and confirms that each of the recitals set forth above is true and correct.
Capitalized terms used in this Amendment without being defined shall have the meaning given to those terms in the Credit Agreement (including any new or
modified terms arising out of this Amendment).
Section 1.2
Outstanding Indebtedness . Each Credit Party acknowledges and confirms that all amounts owed by the Credit Parties to Agent and Lenders under
the Loan Documents are duly and validly owing and that such amounts are not subject to any defense, counterclaim, recoupment or offset of any kind.
Section 1.3
Amendment Fee . Agent and Lenders have determined not to charge Borrowers a fee in connection with this Amendment. Agent and Lenders
reserve the right to charge a fee in connection with any future amendment, waiver, consent, or other accommodation provided to Borrowers.
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ARTICLE II
AMENDMENTS TO CREDIT AGREEMENT
Section 2.1

Amendment of Section 8.15(a) . Section 8.15(a) is hereby amended to read as follows:

(a)
Consolidated EBITDA . Borrowers shall not permit Consolidated EBITDA for the four-quarter period ending on December 31, 2015, and for the fourquarter period ending on the last day of each fiscal quarter thereafter to be less than as set forth below:
Fiscal Quarter Ending On

Minimum Consolidated EBITDA

December 31, 2015
March 31, 2016
June 30, 2016
September 30, 2016 and each fiscal quarter thereafter

$ 3,000,000
$ 3,500,000
$ 4,000,000
$ 5,000,000

ARTICLE III
CONDITIONS TO EFFECTIVENESS
Section 3.1

Conditions Precedent . The effectiveness of this Amendment is subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions:

(a)

receipt by Agent of duly executed counterparts of this Amendment from each Credit Party and all Lenders; and

(b)

satisfaction of all conditions precedent set forth in any closing checklist delivered by Agent to Borrowers; and

(c) if required by Agent, Borrowers shall have paid all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses of Agent and Lenders in connection with
this Amendment, the Loan Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby including an estimate of such costs anticipated in connection with closing (it being
understood that if Agent elects not to require payment prior to closing, Borrowers shall promptly pay such amounts upon being billed therefor by Agent).
ARTICLE IV
MISCELLANEOUS
Section 4.1
Representations and Warranties . Each Credit Party hereby represents and warrants to Agent and Lenders that, as of the date hereof, (a) each Credit
Party has the legal power and authority to execute and deliver this Amendment; (b) the officers of each Credit Party executing this Amendment have been duly
authorized to execute and deliver the same and bind each Credit Party with respect to the provisions hereof; (c) the execution and delivery hereof by each Credit
Party and the performance and observance by each Credit Party of the provisions hereof do not violate or conflict with any organizational document of any Person
party hereto or any law applicable to any Credit Party or result in a breach of any provision of or constitute a default under any other agreement, instrument or
document binding upon or enforceable against any Credit Party; (d) no Default or Event of Default exists under the Credit Agreement, nor will any occur
immediately after the execution and delivery of this Amendment or by the performance or observance of any provision hereof; (e) no Credit Party is aware of any
claim or offset against, or defense or counterclaim to, any of their obligations or liabilities under the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document; (f) this
Amendment and each document executed by any Credit Party in connection herewith constitute the valid and binding obligations of the applicable Credit Party,
enforceable against such Credit Party in accordance with their terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or similar
laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally or by equitable principles relating to enforceability; and (g) each of the representations and warranties
made by such Credit Party in the Credit Agreement and in the other Loan Documents is true and correct in all material respects on and as of such date to the same
extent as though made on and as of such date, except to the extent that any thereof expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case, such representations and
warranties were true and correct in all material respects on and as of such earlier date.
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Section 4.2
Release . Each Credit Party hereby releases, remises, acquits and forever discharges Agent and each of Lenders and their respective
employees, agents, representatives, consultants, attorneys, fiduciaries, officers, directors, partners, predecessors, successors and assigns, subsidiary corporations,
parent corporations, and related corporate divisions (collectively, the “ Released Parties ”), from any and all actions and causes of action, judgments, executions,
suits, debts, claims, demands, liabilities, obligations, damages and expenses of any and every character, known or unknown, direct and/or indirect, at law or in
equity, of whatsoever kind or nature, for or because of any matter or things done, omitted or suffered to be done by any of the Released Parties prior to and
including the effectiveness of this Amendment, and in any way directly or indirectly arising out of or in any way connected to the Credit Agreement or the Loan
Documents (collectively, the “ Released Matters ”). Each Credit Party acknowledges that the agreements in this paragraph are intended to be in full satisfaction of
all or any alleged injuries or damages arising in connection with the Released Matters.
Each Credit Party hereby waives the provisions of any statute or doctrine to the effect that a general release does not extend to claims which the creditor
does not know or suspect to exist in his favor at the time of executing the release, which if known by him must have materially affected his settlement with the
debtor. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each Credit Party hereby waives the provisions of any statute that prevents a general release from
extending to claims unknown by the releasing party, including Section 1542 of the California Civil Code which provides:
A general release does not extend to claims which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the release,
which if known by him or her must have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor.
Each Credit Party acknowledges and understands the rights and benefits conferred by such a statute or doctrine and the risks associated with waiver
thereof, and after receiving advice of counsel, hereby consciously and voluntarily waives, relinquishes and releases any and all rights and benefits available
thereunder, insofar as they apply, or may be construed to apply, to each release set forth herein or contemplated hereby. In so doing, each Credit Party expressly
acknowledges and understands that it may hereafter discover facts in addition to or different from those that it now believes to be true with respect to the subject
matter of the disputes, claims and other matters released herein, but expressly agrees that it has taken these facts and possibilities into account in electing to make
and to enter into this release, and that the releases given herein shall be and remain in effect as full and complete releases notwithstanding the discovery or
existence of any such additional or different facts or possibilities.
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This release may be pleaded as a full and complete defense and/or as a cross-complaint or counterclaim against any action, suit, or other proceeding that
may be instituted, prosecuted or attempted in breach of this release. Each Credit Party acknowledges that the release contained herein constitutes a material
inducement to Agent and each of the Lenders to enter into this Amendment and that Agent and those Lenders would not have done so but for Agent’s and each
Lender’s expectation that such release is valid and enforceable in all events.
Section 4.3
Covenant Not to Sue . Each Credit Party, on behalf of itself and its successors, assigns, and other legal representatives, hereby absolutely,
unconditionally and irrevocably, covenants and agrees with and in favor of each Released Party that it will not sue (at law, in equity, in any regulatory proceeding
or otherwise) any Released Party on the basis of any Released Matter. If any Credit Party or any of its successors, assigns or other legal representatives violates the
foregoing covenant, such Credit Party, for itself and its successors, assigns and legal representatives, agrees to pay, in addition to such other damages as any
Released Party may sustain as a result of such violation, all attorneys’ fees and costs incurred by any Released Party as a result of such violation.
Section 4.4
Loan Documents Unaffected . Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, all provisions of the Credit Agreement and the other Loan
Documents shall remain in full force and effect and be unaffected hereby. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that this Amendment constitutes a “ Loan
Document ” under the terms of the Credit Agreement.
Section 4.5
(a)

Guarantor Acknowledgement . Any Guarantor, by signing this Amendment:

consents and agrees to and acknowledges the terms of this Amendment;

(b) acknowledges and agrees that all of the Loan Documents to which Guarantor is a party or otherwise bound shall continue in full force and effect and that all
of Guarantor’s obligations thereunder shall be valid and enforceable and shall not be impaired or limited by the execution or effectiveness of this Amendment;
(c) represents and warrants to Agent and Lenders that all representations and warranties made by Guarantor and contained in this Amendment or any other Loan
Document to which it is a party are true and correct in all material respects on and as of the date of this Amendment to the same extent as though made on and as of
such date, except to the extent that any thereof expressly relate to an earlier date; and
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(d) acknowledges and agrees that (i) notwithstanding the conditions to effectiveness set forth in this Amendment, Guarantor’s consent to this Amendment is not
required under the terms of the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document or as a matter of law, and (ii) nothing in the Credit Agreement, this Amendment or
any other Loan Document shall be deemed to require the consent of Guarantor to any future amendments to, modifications of, consents under, or forbearances or
waivers with regard to, the Credit Agreement.
Section 4.6
Costs, Expenses and Taxes . Borrowers agree to pay on demand all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses of Agent in
connection with the preparation, execution, delivery, administration, modification and amendment of this Amendment and the other instruments and documents to
be delivered hereunder, including the reasonable and documented fees and out-of-pocket expenses of counsel for Agent with respect thereto and with respect to
advising Agent as to its rights and responsibilities hereunder and thereunder. Borrowers further agree to pay on demand all reasonable and documented out-ofpocket costs and expenses, if any (including reasonable and documented counsel fees and expenses), in connection with the enforcement (whether through
negotiations, legal proceedings or otherwise) of this Amendment and any other instruments and documents to be delivered hereunder, including reasonable and
documented counsel fees and expenses in connection with the enforcement of rights under this section. In addition, Borrowers shall pay any and all stamp and other
taxes payable or determined to be payable in connection with the execution and delivery of this Amendment and any other instruments and documents to be
delivered hereunder, and agrees to save Agent harmless from and against any and all liabilities with respect to or resulting from any delay or omission to pay such
taxes. The foregoing agreements shall be in addition to and not in lieu of any similar obligations under the Loan Documents.
Section 4.7
No Other Promises or Inducements . There are no promises or inducements that have been made to any party hereto to cause such party to enter into
this Amendment other than those that are set forth in this Amendment. This Amendment has been entered into by each Credit Party freely, voluntarily, with full
knowledge, and without duress, and, in executing this Amendment, no Credit Party is relying on any other representations, either written or oral, express or
implied, made to any Credit Party by Agent or any Lender. Each Credit Party agrees that the consideration received by each Credit Party under this Amendment has
been actual and adequate.
Section 4.8
No Course of Dealing . Each Credit Party acknowledges and agrees that, (a) this Amendment is not intended to, nor shall it, establish any course of
dealing between the Credit Parties, Agent and Lenders that is inconsistent with the express terms of the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document, (b)
notwithstanding any course of dealing between the Credit Parties, Agent and Lenders prior to the date hereof, except as set forth herein, Lenders shall not be
obligated to make any Loan, except in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Amendment and the Credit Agreement, and (c) neither Agent nor Lenders
shall be under any obligation to forbear from exercising any of their respective rights or remedies upon the occurrence of any Default or Event of Default other than
those that have been waived under this Amendment. Nothing herein modifies the agreements among Agent and Lenders with respect to the exercise of their
respective rights and remedies under the terms of the Credit Agreement.
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Section 4.9
No Waiver . Each Credit Party acknowledges and agrees that (a) except as expressly provided herein, this Amendment shall not operate as a waiver
of any right, power or remedy of Agent or Lenders under the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document, nor shall it constitute a continuing waiver at any time,
and (b) nothing herein shall in any way prejudice the rights and remedies of Agent or Lenders under the Credit Agreement, any Loan Document or applicable law.
In addition, Agent and Lenders shall have the right to waive any condition or conditions set forth in this Amendment, the Credit Agreement or any other Loan
Document, in their sole discretion, and any such waiver shall not prejudice, waive or reduce any other right or remedy that Agent or Lenders may have against any
Credit Party.
Section 4.10 Reaffirmation . Each Credit Party, as debtor, grantor, pledgor, guarantor, assignor, or in any other similar capacity in which such Credit Party grants
liens or security interests in its property or otherwise acts as accommodation party or guarantor, as the case may be, hereby (a) ratifies and reaffirms all of its
payment and performance obligations, contingent or otherwise, under each of the Loan Documents to which it is a party (after giving effect hereto) and (b) to the
extent such Person granted liens on or security interests in any of its property pursuant to any such Loan Document as security for the Obligations under or with
respect to the Loan Documents, ratifies and reaffirms such grant of security interests and liens and confirms and agrees that such security interests and liens
hereafter secure all of the Obligations as amended hereby. Each Credit Party hereby acknowledges that each of the Loan Documents remains in full force and effect
and is hereby ratified and reaffirmed. The execution of this Amendment shall not operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of Agent or any Lender,
constitute a waiver of any provision of any of the Loan Documents or serve to effect a novation of the Obligations. Each Credit Party acknowledges that all
references in the Credit Agreement to the “Agreement” or the “Credit Agreement” shall mean the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, and all references in the
Loan Documents to the “Credit Agreement” shall mean the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby.
Section 4.11
Modification; Waiver . This Amendment may not be modified orally, but only by an agreement in writing signed by the parties hereto. Any
provision of this Amendment can be waived, amended, supplemented or modified by written agreement of the parties hereto.
Section 4.12
Governing Law . THIS AMENDMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES UNDER THIS AMENDMENT
SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAW OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA APPLICABLE TO
CONTRACTS MADE AND PERFORMED IN SUCH STATE WITHOUT REGARD TO THE PRINCIPLES THEREOF REGARDING CONFLICTS
OF LAWS.
Section 4.13
Entire Agreement . This Amendment sets forth the entire agreement and understanding among the parties as to the subject matter hereof and
merges and supersedes all prior discussions, agreements, and undertakings of every kind and nature among them with respect to the subject matter hereof.
Section 4.14
Counterparts; Facsimile or Electronic Transmission of Signature . This Amendment may be executed by one or more of the parties to this
Amendment on any number of separate counterparts, and all of said counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. The
manual signature of any party hereto that is transmitted to any other party or its counsel by facsimile or electronic transmission shall be deemed for all purposes to
be an original signature.
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Section 4.15
Severability of Provisions; Captions; Attachments; Interpretation . Any provision of this Amendment which is prohibited or unenforceable in any
jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof,
and any such prohibition or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction. The captions to
Sections and subsections herein are inserted for convenience only and shall be ignored in interpreting the provisions of this Amendment. Each schedule or exhibit
attached to this Amendment shall be incorporated herein and shall be deemed to be a part hereof. Words in the singular include the plural and words in the plural
include the singular. Use of the term “ includes ” or “ including, ” shall mean “including, but not limited to.”
Section 4.16
JURY TRIAL WAIVER . EACH OF THE UNDERSIGNED, HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVE, TO THE
EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO THIS AMENDMENT
AND FOR ANY COUNTERCLAIM HEREIN
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signatures begin on following page.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Amendment as of the date first above written.
BORROWERS:
ROYAL HAWAIIAN ORCHARDS, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership
By:

Royal Hawaiian Resources, Inc., a Hawaii corporation, its managing general partner

By: /s/ Scott Wallace
Name:Scott Wallace
Title: President, CEO
ROYAL HAWAIIAN RESOURCES, INC., a Hawaii corporation
By: /s/ Scott Wallace
Name:Scott Wallace
Title: President

ROYAL HAWAIIAN SERVICES, LLC, a Hawaii limited liability company
By:

Royal Hawaiian Orchards, L.P., a Delaware limited liability company, its member
By:

Royal Hawaiian Resources, Inc., a Hawaii corporation, its managing general
partner

By: /s/ Scott Wallace
Name:Scott Wallace
Title: President
ROYAL HAWAIIAN MACADAMIA NUT, INC., a Hawaii corporation
By: /s/ Scott Wallace
Name:Scott Wallace
Title: President

Signature Page 1

BORROWER REPRESENTATIVE:
ROYAL HAWAIIAN ORCHARDS, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership
By:

Royal Hawaiian Resources, Inc., a Hawaii corporation, its managing general partner

By: /s/ Scott Wallace
Name:Scott Wallace
Title: President

[Signature Pages Continue]

Signature Page 2

AMERICAN AGCREDIT, PCA,
as Agent and Lender
By: /s/ Janice T. Thede
Name:Janice T. Thede
Title: Vice President

Signature Page 3

Exhibit 11.1
Royal Hawaiian Orchards, L.P.
Computation of Net Income (Loss) per Class A Unit (unaudited)
(in thousands, except per unit data)
Three Months
Ended September 30,
2015
2014
Net loss
Class A Unit Holders (ownership percentage)
Net income (loss) allocable to Class A Unit Holders
Weighted average Class A Units outstanding
Net loss per Class A Unit

$
x
$
$

(216)
100%
(216)
11,100
(0.02)

$
x
$
$

(1,421)
100%
(1,421)
11,100
(0.13)

Nine Months
Ended September 30,
2015
2014
$
x
$
$

(803)
100%
(803)
11,100
(0.07)

$
x
$
$

(4,653)
100%
(4,653)
10,625
(0.44)

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Scott C. Wallace, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Royal Hawaiian Orchards, L.P.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under my supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to me by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under my supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report my conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and
5. I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: November 16, 2015
/s/ Scott C. Wallace
Scott C. Wallace
President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive and Financial Officer)
of Royal Hawaiian Resources, Inc., Managing General Partner of Royal Hawaiian
Orchards, L.P.

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Royal Hawaiian Orchards, L.P. (the “Partnership”) for the period ended September 30, 2015 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, the undersigned management of the Partnership, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that,
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Partnership.

/s/ Scott C. Wallace
Scott C. Wallace
President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive and Financial Officer)
of Royal Hawaiian Resources, Inc., Managing General Partner of Royal Hawaiian
Orchards, L.P.
November 16, 2015

